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Annexe A  Costs of different forms of standardised assessments 

Question 1 - The estimated cost of the SNSA policy – was there an estimate of the 
overall cost of the policy made at the start for example over the first three years, or 
over the first five years (either starting from when ACER were rewarded the contract 
or over a period of academic years)? 
 
It was not possible to produce a reliable estimate of the cost of the SNSA policy from 

the outset. As our objective was to develop an online, adaptive assessment system 

that was unique and bespoke to Scotland and the Scottish curriculum, there was no 

directly comparative precedent upon which to draw.  We did however look at the unit 

cost of a set of literacy and numeracy assessments produced by CEM and others, 

multiplied by the number of relevant children and young people to provide an 

indicative cost.  This produced a figure of around £2m per annum and this was 

quoted in the original invitation to tender for the contract to provide the assessments. 

Question 2 - What was the initial estimate of the cost of the ACER contract and for 
what period of work? 
 
The estimated value in the invitation to tender was £10 million over 5 years (a 36-

month contract term with the possibility of extension for a further 24 months).  This 

was a guide price to inform potential bidders – standard practice when issuing an ITT 

of this sort.  In fact, the estimated completion cost of the initial 3-year contract with 

ACER UK 2016 is in the region of £9m. As set out in the DFM’s recent letter to 

Committee, this figure includes the initial start-up costs of £1.1m (suppliers’ 

development and initial implementation fee) and the annual running costs 

(assessment fees and management fees) which are around £3.4m per academic 

year. The £12m figure that you mention was I think quoted in TES Scotland as being 

the £10m expected cost plus VAT at 20%. The contract cost does not, however, 

include VAT, as the services being delivered under this contract are VAT-exempt - in 

line with HMRC guidance. 

Question 3 - What are the estimated annual running costs? Is it £3.4m anticipated 
on an ongoing basis for each academic year that SNSAs run – for example would 
they cost £3.4m in the 2021-22 academic year? 
 
The contract with ACER UK was awarded in October 2016 for 3 years, with the 

potential to extend by up to a further two years (on a +1-year +1-year basis). The 

core contract has since been extended by 9 months (rather than taking up the first 

full plus 1-year option), to bring it into line with the school year.  The anticipated 

annual running cost is in the region of £3.4m per annum up to and including the 

2019/20 school session, with the potential to extend the contract for a further year for 

the school session 2020/21.  The cost of providing assessments for the 2021/22 

school session onwards will depend on the outcome of a future procurement 

exercise to determine who will be awarded the contract to deliver standardised 

assessments. 



 

Question 4 - Do you have an estimate of the cost of local authority standardised 
assessments before SNSAs were introduced, or at present (ideally combining school 
and local authority level costs)? 
 
The Scottish Government has not carried out an analysis of the cost to local 

authorities and/or schools of buying in standardised assessments.  Local authority 

provision presented an extremely varied and complicated landscape and we did not 

consider it practical to attempt to estimate the likely costs.  We have seen the TESS 

survey of the costs of standardised assessments from June 2015 which estimated 

that the cost was just over £1m per annum.  We know however that this survey did 

not provide a comprehensive picture, as a number of local authorities, including 

Glasgow, did not provide a return.   

It is our understanding that the figures provided for the TESS survey only reflect the 

cost of buying in the assessments and do not cover the additional costs that come 

with operating a standardised assessment system. These costs (which include local 

authority support for schools on areas such as technical support, information transfer 

arrangements, training for teachers on data analysis of learner outcomes etc) will 

have varied from authority to authority depending on local policy and practice.  Local 

authorities also had different arrangements in place for providing assessments for 

schools – in some areas authorities provided them to schools, in others they were 

bought in by individual schools, as part of the Devolved School Management of 

resources, instead of or as well as, assessments provided by the authority.  While 

CEM was the most popular, local authorities and schools bought in assessments 

from a range of providers.   

None of these providers had designed assessments to reflect Curriculum for 

Excellence and, although some good work was being undertaken, relatively few local 

authorities were in a position to present assessment outcomes to teachers in a way 

which could indicate progress within the context of the Scottish curriculum. This 

complicated picture was one of the reasons behind the decision to introduce a 

national standardised assessment to provide nationally consistent assessments for 

all children, schools and local authorities as well as nationally consistent diagnostic 

information, support and training for teachers. 

Question 5 - Do you have any projections as to what the reduced costs of local 
authority and school specific standardised assessments will be after a period of 
SNSA implementation (e.g. after three academic years)? 

 
The SG has not carried out any projections of the reduction in costs to local 

authorities at this point or in years to come - we do not believe it is possible or 

practical to generate an accurate estimate.  We know from the conversations we 

have had with Directors of Education that local authorities have adopted a wide-

range of approaches to implementing the SNSAs, as was borne out by the returns 

that the Committee received to the Convener’s letter just before Christmas.  We 

have however made clear our expectation that local authorities should use the SNSA 

to replace existing assessments and some have done this already. Others have 



decided to wait until the SNSAs bed in before stopping their existing 

assessments.  Many schools too continue to take their own decisions (and use their 

own budgets) to bring in additional assessments.  Based on our conversations with 

Directors, there is an expectation that the number of authorities and schools carrying 

out their own assessments and the associated costs will reduce as the SNSA 

becomes more established. 

Question 6 - Do you have any assessment as to how many local authorities have / 
have agreed to move over to snsas (ie to cease their own local authority level 
assessments) versus how many are yet to confirm that they will move away from 
their assessments? 
 
We do not have a definitive list of what local authorities plan to do.  Regular 

conversations are held with Directors of Education about the National Improvement 

Framework, including experiences of SNSA and future plans for using standardised 

assessments.  As above (and as per the authority returns to the Committee) we 

know that some authorities have already stopped using other assessments, others 

are planning to do so and some do not have any plans at present.   

Question 7 -  Do you have an assessment of how many local authorities plan to not 
only move away from L/A wide assessment but to also move away from allowing 
schools to hold school specific assessments? 
 
We are not aware of any local authorities who are proposing to stop schools from 

making their own decisions about using standardised assessments.  The Scottish 

Government’s view, in keeping with the wider empowerment agenda, is that 

decisions on this kind of issue should lie with the school and headteacher, though as 

stated above, we expect the SNSAs to replace existing standardised assessments in 

the vast majority of situations.   

  



 


